
 

 
 

  
 
 

Legal & Governance Reform 
DDaavviidd  WWiillccoocckk  

HHeeaadd  ooff  LLeeggaall  aanndd  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  RReeffoorrmm  
 
Governance  & Committee Services 
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 
Phone: 01706 647474 
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk 

To:  All Members of the Planning and 
Licensing Committee 

Enquiries to: Michael Garraway 
Telephone:  01706 924716 
Date: 7th August 2015 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
Planning and Licensing Committee 
 
You are requested to attend the meeting of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee to be held in Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU on Monday, 17th August 2015 
commencing at 6.15 pm. 
 
The agenda and supporting papers are attached.  
 
A site visit will take place prior to the meeting.  Members can either meet at the 
back entrance of Number One Riverside at 3:45pm or attend the Former Hebers 
Working Mens Club, 231 Hollin Lane at 4pm. 
 
If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or Deputies or staff in the 
Governance and Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the 
meeting.  
 
Yours Faithfully 

 
 

David Wilcock 
Head of Legal and Governance Reform 
 
Planning and Licensing Committee Membership 2015/16 
Councillor Allen Brett 
Councillor Susan Emmott 
Councillor Pat Greenall 
Councillor Shaun O'Neill 
Councillor Aasim Rashid 
Councillor Peter Rush 
Councillor Billy Sheerin 
Councillor Ann Stott JP 
Councillor Patricia Sullivan 
Councillor Carol Wardle 
Councillor June West 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 

 
 

Rochdale Borough Council 
 

PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 17th August 2015 at 6.15 pm 
 

Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One Riverside, 
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
A G E N D A 

 
Apologies for Absence 

1. Submitted Planning Applications  1 - 40 



 
 

  
 

Subject:  Submitted Planning Applications Status:  For Publication 

Report to:   Planning and Licensing 
Committee 

 
  

Date:         17 August 2015  

Report of: Director of Economy and 
Environment 
 

Author: See individual agenda reports 
 

 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  

 
1.1 To provide recommendations to the Committee on planning applications or 

related consents submitted to the Council and requiring the consideration 

and/or determination of the Committee in accordance with the Council’s 
approved Scheme of Delegation. 

 
1.2 To provide information on any other planning or development related 

matters which may affect the work of the Committee. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1 Recommendations in respect of individual planning applications are as 

detailed in the following papers. 

 
3. STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

 
3.1 The submitted applications on this agenda are to be determined in 

accordance with the provisions of relevant legislation, including the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990, Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Planning and Compensation Act 1991, Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008, Localism Act 2011 and 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 together with any Directions and Regulations which 

support that legislation.   
 

3.2 Planning law requires that applications be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
Where relevant, any such material considerations will be referred to in the 

report. 
 

 
 

 

ITEM NO. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 

     The Development Plan 
 

3.3 All planning applications referred to in this report have been assessed 
against the relevant policies and proposals of the development plan for the 

Borough (currently the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 2006) 
and any Supplementary Planning Documents or Guidance adopted by the 
Council.   

 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

 
3.4 In addition, in assessing the submitted planning applications, there is a 

requirement to have regard to relevant national policies as set out within 

the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) the policies of which are a 
material consideration.  Where relevant, the provisions of the NPPF and any 

other relevant national guidance will be referred to in the report. 
 
4. RISK ASSESSMENT IMPLICATIONS  

 
4.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Officers 

dealing with Planning Matters.  Members and Officers are required to have 
full regard to the Code in discharging their responsibilities and duties in 
relation to planning matters on behalf of the Council.  The Code seeks to 

ensure that all decision making is governed by an open and transparent 
process and represents a standard against which the conduct of Officers 

and Member sitting on the Committee will be judged.   
 
4.2 A Declaration of Member Interests Register is taken prior to the 

commencement of the Committee meeting.  Advice on whether any 
Member sitting on the Committee ought to declare any interest on any item 

on the submitted agenda should be obtained from the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services or the Head of Planning.   

 

4.3 The Council’s Standards Committee will monitor the operation of this Code 
of Conduct.    

 
5. EQUALITIES IMPACTS 

 
5.1 The above Acts require Local Planning Authorities to consider planning 

applications on their individual merits having regard to the development 

plan and other material planning considerations. 
 

5.2 The Equality Act 2010 protects people from discrimination on the basis of 
certain characteristics which are known as protected characteristics.  These 
protected characteristics are Age, Disability, Gender Reassignment, 

Marriage or Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, Religion or 
Belief, Sex (Gender), Sexual Orientation, socio-economic status and Carer. 

 
5.3 In applying the Equality Act 2010, the Council is required to consider the 

effects of its decisions on different groups protected from discrimination, 

including a duty to make reasonable adjustments.  In taking account of all 
material planning considerations, including Council policy as set out in the 

Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework, the 

Page 2



Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded all opportunities to 

promote equality through the planning process have been taken, or where 
adjustments cannot be made, these are justified on the basis of the 

planning merits of the development proposal.   
 

5.4 The Rochdale and District Disabled Access Working Group may comment on 
relevant planning applications. Where comments are received, these will be 
included within the reported to Committee.  Consideration is given in 

designing access when dealing with the planning applications. Where 
applicable, any issues relating to these matters or other equal opportunity 

matters will be referred to in individual planning application reports. 
 
6.      Human Rights Act 1998 considerations 

 
6.1    The submitted applications need to be considered against the provisions of 

the Human Rights Act 1998.  Under Article 6, the applications (and those 
third parties, including local residents, who have made representations) 
have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full 

consideration to their comments. 
 

6.2 Article 8 and Protocol 1 Article 1 confer(s) a right of respect or a person’s 
home, other land and business assets.  In taking account of all material 
considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Unitary 

Development Plan, the Director (Economy and Environment) has concluded 
that some rights conferred by these Articles on the 

applicant(s)/objectors/residents and other occupiers and owners of nearby 
land that might be affected may be interfered with but that that 
interference is in accordance with the law and justified by being in the 

public interest and on the basis of the planning merits of the development 
proposal.  He believes that any restriction on these rights posed by 

approval of the application is proportionate to the wider benefits of approval 
and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the 
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 3



 

Background Papers 
 

      The background papers relevant to the planning applications to be considered on 
this agenda will include:- 

 
 1.  The Planning application file and its contents which will include: 

 
 i)  The planning application form and supporting information, together with 

scaled drawings/plans and relevant statutory certificates. 

ii) Letters of response from statutory and other consultees who may have 
been consulted or commented on the planning application 

iii) Letters and documents received from interested parties. 
iv) Notes of telephone conversations, meetings and any information received 

and of relevance to the submitted proposal 

  
 2. For any previous planning application referred to in the agenda report or in the 

application file, the planning application forms and the decision on that proposal 
 
 3. Such other papers (if any) received after the preparation of individual reports 

on planning applications on this agenda (to be reported verbally at the meeting). 
 

       4. Any other guidance or procedural documents adopted by the Council and of 
relevance to the recommendation and/or determination of any submitted 
planning applications or related consents 

 
For further information about this report, or if you wish to see any background 
papers please contact: Sharon Hill, Senior Business Support Officer, in Economy and 
Environment, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU 
 

Telephone (01706) 924305 or via the online planning services at:  
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/planning 

 

 

 
 

Page 4



Application Number: 15/00208/FUL    Ward: West Middleton       
 

 
Proposal: Development of convenience store, ATM and associated car parking 
 

Site Address: 231 Hollin Lane Middleton Manchester M24 5LU  
 

Applicant:  
                  James Hall & Company 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
UPDATE 
 
Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee considered the application at their 
meeting on 8th July 2015.  The Committee raised concerns in relation to pedestrian 
safety and traffic flows given the close proximity to a school; the effect on existing 
businesses in the area; possible antisocial behaviour at the site; and concern relating to 
the future use of the area of the site that was not subject to the planning application 
under consideration.  The Committee resolved it would be minded to refuse planning 
permission and referred the application to the Planning and Licensing Committee for 
determination.  Members of this Committee may approve or refuse the application on 
reasonable planning grounds.   
 
Since the Committee meeting on 8th July, officers have been in discussions with the 
agent to address concerns raised by members in relation to pedestrian safety and to 
potentially secure the inclusion of the adjacent parcel of land into the development site.    
 
In relation to pedestrian safety, the potential for a pedestrian refuge island on Hollin 
Lane has been explored by both the highway authority and the applicant’s transport 
consultant.  However, the Hollin Lane highway is of insufficient width to accommodate a 
pedestrian refuge island.  Other options explored including markings on the highway 

 

Page 5



and signage, however the highway authority has stated that there is no evidence to 
demonstrate that road markings are beneficial to highway safety and to require signage 
would be unreasonable given the size of the store proposed.  Notwithstanding this, the 
highway authority maintain that the proposed development would not be detrimental to 
highway or pedestrian safety and a resulting refusal on such grounds could not be 
substantiated on appeal.   
 
The parcel of land in the rear corner of the former Heber’s Working Men’s Club site is 
not within the applicant’s ownership.  This parcel is owned by Riverside Group and 
although the Council has been advised that Riverside is willing to sell the land to the 
applicant, these negotiations are ongoing.  Officers requested that this land be included 
in the development site as an amendment to the application to enhance the scheme 
and prevent a parcel of land remaining vacant and underused in the urban area.  
Although the applicant initially appeared willing to progress their negotiations and 
amend the scheme accordingly, a letter was received last week requesting the 
application be presented to Planning and Licensing on 17th August without amendment.  
The letter suggests that a refusal of the application on this ground could be deemed 
unreasonable behaviour and result in an award of costs against the authority at appeal.   
 
Officers have advised the applicant that the Committee is entitled to attach whatever 
weight it sees fit to the design implications of this scheme.  Middleton Township 
Planning Sub Committee was clear that it would afford significantly greater weight to 
the design shortcomings of the scheme as a result of the omission of this parcel of land.  
It is perfectly lawful for the committee to attach whatever weight it sees fit to the 
material considerations in assessing the balance of the scheme. 
 
SITE 
 
The application relates to the site occupied by Hebers Working Men’s Club on Hollin Lane in 
Middleton. The site currently comprises of the club building and its associated 
hardstanding/parking areas, with a small area of grass at the southern end, although the 
grassed area does not form part of this application. The building itself is flat roofed and 
appears to have been previously extended with four different sections, each with varying roof 
heights.    
 
The whole application site measures approximately 0.17 hectares and is accessed directly 
from Hollin Lane (A6046) which is a busy main road that connects Middleton Town Centre to 
the M62 motorway and Heywood beyond. The site is within the defined urban area and is 
generally surrounded by residential dwellings, although directly facing the application site, on 
the opposite side of Hollin Lane, is an A1 convenience store. To the north, the site is adjoined 
by the semi-detached dwelling at 237 Hollin Lane and to the south by a row of three houses 
fronting onto Lee Street. To the rear (west) the site shares a boundary with the rear gardens of 
the residential dwellings on Bonscale Crescent. The houses on Bonscale Crescent are set at a 
raised level approximately 1.5m above the application site.  A low retaining wall on the 
application site supports this raised land to the rear.     
 
Car parking for the club is provided in an ad-hoc fashion on the hard surfaced areas to the 
front, side and rear of the existing building. There is no on-street parking on Hollin Lane as 
double yellow lines are located on both sides of this busy highway.   
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application seeks consent to demolish the existing building and replace it with a new retail 
unit (A1 use).  The proposed unit would be set towards the rear (west) of the site, set 14m 
from the back of the footway of Hollin Lane. The area between the store and back of the 
footway would be used to provide 16 off-street car parking spaces (one accessible), as well as 
the access road for the store.  

Page 6



 
Access to the site would be from the existing access off Hollin Lane, although this would be 
widened to allow sufficient access and egress and an additional access point will be created 
onto Hollin Lane to the south of the building.    
  
To the north of the building would be a hard surfaced area used for deliveries. The building 
would be set approximately 1.2m from the rear boundary shared with the properties on 
Bonscale Crescent and 10m from the boundary shared with 237 Hollin Lane. However, as 
mentioned above this area to the north would be used for deliveries, as well as housing plant 
machinery and bins.  
 
The new unit would be single storey in terms of useable space, but in terms of visual 
appearance would be 5.5m high to the highest part facing Hollin Lane. In terms of external 
footprint, the building would measure 448m², with a length of 32m and depth of 14m. The 
internal retail space would measure 280m² and the none retails space, including the stock 
room and staff areas, would measure 150m².  
 
In terms of design and appearance, the replacement building would have a lean-to roof, which 
rises at the front towards Hollin Lane, measuring 4m high at the rear and 5.5m high at the 
front. The unit would have a relatively modern design consisting of a large amount of glazing 
and a central double door providing access. Above the display windows in the front elevation 
would be the fascia sign spanning the full width of the building and above this would be further 
glazing. The glazing below the fascia sign would be fitted with internal roller shutters, except 
for the central front door panel which would be fitted with an external roller shutter. The 
building would be constructed using Kingspan insulated panels and directly to the north of the 
glazed section the building would contain an ATM (cash machine) in the panelled section of 
the front elevation.  The roof would be constructed using Kingspan roof panels and the shop 
front/glazing would be aluminium framed.      
         
The application involves the removal of approximately six trees from the southern boundary of 
the site, to allow for the creation of the car parking area, and the removal of number of small 
trees, shrubs and bushes from within the raised embankment at the rear of the site between 
the existing building and the houses on Bonscale Crescent. The trees outside of the 
application site would not be felled, however these would be protected by protective fencing 
during the construction period.  
 
The proposed hours of opening area 07:00 – 23:00 Monday to Saturday and 08:00 – 22:00 on 
Sunday.   The application form states that 13 full time equivalent jobs would be created.   
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 

Page 7



 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 
 
G/D/1   Defined Urban Area 
 
B/BE/1   Design Quality 
BE/2   Design Criteria for New Development 
BE/5   Shop Fronts 
BE/8   Landscaping in New Development  
 
G/A/1   Accessibility 
A/3   New Development – Access for Pedestrians and Disabled People  
A/7   Access for service Vehicles 
A/8   New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9   New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10   New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
G/EM/1  Environmental Management 
EM/2   Pollution 
EM/3   Noise and New Development 
EM/4   Contaminated Land  
EM/7   Development and Flood Risk 
EM/8    Protection of Surface and Ground Water 
 
G/S/1   Hierarchy and Role of Centres 
S/8    Retail Development Outside Town, District and Local Centres 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
Earliest Decision Date: 15 April 2015 
Revised Expiry Date:  No extension agreed   
 
Site Notice: General Site Notice Date Displayed: 25 March 2015 
 
RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 
82/D13600 Extension to working men’s club and additional car parking – granted subject to 

conditions.   
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Environmental Health (Noise/Odour): No objection in principal, but would recommend the 
following conditions: 
 

• Opening hours restricted as per the submitted application –  
07:00 – 23:00 Monday to Saturday  
08:00 – 22:00 Sunday  

 

• Delivery times restricted as per below: 
08:00 – 20:00  

 

• Noise levels from any plant/machinery shall not exceed: 
50 dB(A) Leq 1hr between 7am-11pm 
40 dB(A) leq 5min 11pm-7am 
When measured 1 metre from the façade of noise sensitive properties. 

 

Page 8



• The Mitsubishi PLA-125BA plant operation equipment approved shall only operate 
during store opening hours. 

  
Design for Security: No comments received to date.   
 
Highways and Engineering: For a development of this size and nature ample dedicated 
parking has been provided. In addition to this the development is likely to receive customers 
accessing the convenience store on foot as the site is within close proximity of both the Hollin 
and Langley housing estates and as such there is no highway objection to the proposal.  
 
Strategic Planning: 
 
Principal of development – Retail policies 
 
The application site is located outside a town, district or local centre. Given that the proposal 
exceeds the 250 sq. m threshold set out in policy S/7, it would therefore be subject to policy 
S/8 - Retail Development outside Town, District and Local Centres’.  
 
Policy S/8 states that the development of, or change of use, to shops and other services of an 
appropriate scale to serve local needs will be permitted, provided that: 
 

a) The applicant has demonstrated the need for the development; 

b) The applicant has demonstrated that the sequential approach to site selection has been 
adopted and that no suitable sites or buildings that are sequentially preferable are 
available or likely to become available within a reasonable period of time; 

c) The proposal, either by itself or together with recently completed developments or 
outstanding planning permissions, will not harm the vitality or viability of any town, district 
or local centre; 

d) The site is, or could be, widely accessible by existing or planned public transport provision 
and has good access to the Strategic Highway Network; 

e) It will not unduly affect the amenity of nearby residents or other uses by reason of noise, 
traffic generation and hours of opening; and 

f) The site is within the urban area and is well related to existing patterns of movement 
between residential areas and town, district and local centres and other major retail 
locations. 

 
Need – With regard to criterion a), specific reference of need is not included within the NPPF 
but it remains important to consider in terms of overall retail capacity.  

In addition, the proposed retail unit would help address the lack of choice and range of shops 
currently found in the area by providing fresh fruit and vegetables. It will fill some gaps in the 
current level of convenience provision offered by other shops; meaning that the proposed 
retail unit can fully serve the ‘top up’ shopping needs of its local catchment.   

The proposal also complies with the retail planning requirements of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, paragraphs 23, which seeks to ‘provide customer choice and a diverse 
retail offer’.  

Sequential approach - Paragraph 24 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that in-centre sites are 
assessed before less central options are considered; it gives preference to accessible sites 
that are well connected to the town centre, and requires flexibility to be demonstrated on 
issues such as format and scale.  

In respect of the sequential assessment, there are no more sequentially preferable sites within 
or on the edge of the allocated Local Centre (Nowell Road, Hollins) that are suitable, viable or 

Page 9



available to accommodate the proposed development. The NPPF establishes that out-of-
centre sites can be considered in such circumstances, with preference given to accessible and 
well-connected sites. 

In summary, the applicant has demonstrated that there are no more sequentially preferable 
locations upon which the proposed development could be accommodated.  

Impact assessment – The proposed floor space falls below the NPPF’s default threshold of 
2,500sqm for impact assessments, and in the absence of an up to date Local Plan, there is no 
requirement to do an impact assessment.   
 
Accessible - The application site is suitably accessed by foot as it would front onto a busy road 
which serves two large residential estates which lie to the east (Hollins) and west (Langley). 
Given its fairly modest size, the convenience store would provide more choice to local 
residents than the off-licence opposite the site and Premier convenience store located on 
Windermere Road but would not negatively impact on the existing retail provision in Middleton 
town centre. 
 
In terms of criterion e), I leave it up to the development management officer to determine if 
there are any issues around amenity. Finally, the site is within an urban area and is well 
related to existing patterns of movement between residential areas and town, district and local 
centres and other major retail locations.  
 
Conclusion 
 
In conclusion the proposal meets the criteria set out under policy S/8. I consider that the 
proposed net floor space is large enough to accommodate a larger range of goods than what 
is currently provided in the locality, but small enough so as not to have a negative impact on 
the existing retail provision within the town centre or existing local centres. I therefore 
conclude that this proposal is acceptable in policy terms. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU): The information supplied is adequate to 
determine the ecological impacts; no significant ecological constraints were identified by the 
developer’s ecological consultant.  Minor issues relating to invasive species, nesting birds and 
ecological mitigation were identified which can be resolved via condition.  The bat survey 
found no evidence of bats and has assessed the building low risk. Whilst no evidence of bat 
roosting was found and the building assessed as low risk.  Bat activity around the building did 
however occur.   Pre-cautionary re-assessments were advised if demolition was delayed 
beyond spring 2016.  Please apply the following condition to any permission. 
 
“If the demolition hereby approved does not commence before 30th April 2016, the building will 
be reassessed for bat roosting potential and the finding supplied to and agreed in writing by 
the LPA.” 
 
Potential bird nesting habitat will be lost as a result of the development.  Please apply the 
following condition as part of any permission. 
 
“No vegetation clearance shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in any year 
unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been carried out 
immediately prior to clearance and written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are 
present which has been  agreed in writing by the LPA.” 
 
Japanese knotweed was found on the site.  It is unclear whether this will be disturbed as a 
result of the development.  Please apply a condition along the following condition to any 
permission. 
 

Page 10



“Prior to any earthworks a method statement detailing eradication and/or control and/or 
avoidance measures for Japanese knotweed, should be supplied to and agreed in writing to 
the LPA.  The agreed method statement shall be adhered to and implemented in full unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA.” 
 
Ecological Mitigation 
 
The ecological impacts of the development are low but would still potentially result in a net 
loss without sensitive soft landscaping proposals.  The ecological appraisal provides 
recommendations on the level of mitigation required.  I am happy with these broad headings.  
Please apply a condition along the following lines. 
 
“A landscape management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA, 
prior to commencement of development.  The content of the plan should include elements to 
mitigate for loss of trees shrubs and bird nesting habitat and ensure no lighting impacts on 
features identified as being of value to bats. The approved plan will be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details.” 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Letters of notification were sent to surrounding neighbours and a notice positioned close to the 
site. In response to the publicity, a petition signed by 138 signatories has been submitted 
along with 260 copies of the same letter all of which have been signed by different people. 
Additionally, 23 individual letters of objection have also been received and one neutral letter. 
The main issues raised in the letters and the Officer responses are summarised below:   
 
Objections: -   
 

1. The application is a cynical and speculative ploy to capitalise on the prospect of 350+ 

new houses currently under consideration on the Langley Lane and Hollin sites. 

Without these houses the applicant would not have a business case to submit the 

application.  

 

Officer response: It is not for the LPA to consider the motives of a planning application, 

and the Council’s decision on this application carries no weight in the determination of 

housing applications elsewhere, or vice versa.   This application must be assessed on 

its merits.   

 

2. This area is more than adequately served by three long established convenience 

stores: Zak’s (directly opposite), Herbers Post Office/shop and the BLT at the corner of 

Langley lane and Hollin Lane. The store is therefore not needed in the location.   

 

Officer response: The NPPF no longer requires the applicant to demonstrate need for 

a development. Instead, it promotes customer choice and a diverse retail offer. In any 

case, the applicant will have carried out their own research in to the viability and 

demand for this store.   

 

3. The store would be detrimental to the community shops and services, as all three of 

these nearby stores face the prospect of closing down if this application is accepted. 

This would result in the loss of livelihoods causing massive stress to the families of the 

workers in neighbouring stores. The local shops in this area already have to share 

opening hours to survive and the Council would not be supporting small business by 

Page 11



approving this unit. The post office is a vital community amenity, facilitating local social 

security payments, pensions, etc… The Council cannot expect the elderly to go to 

Middleton Town Centre Post Office for these essential services.  

 

Officer Response: Whilst the LPA understands the above concerns regarding the 

future of neighbouring businesses as a result of the proposed store, the issue of 

competition is not a valid reason to refuse a planning application. The National 

Planning Policy Framework, paragraphs 23, seeks to ‘provide customer choice and a 

diverse retail offer’. 

 

4. Hollin Lane suffers from huge traffic issues during the morning and afternoon rush hour 

and poses a threat to children attending nearby schools. The use would result in HGV 

reversing out on to the highway which is dangerous.  

 

Officer response: Hollin Lane is a main road and this is the type of highway that should 

be serving a retail store such as this. The highway authority has raised no objection to 

the proposal and the submitted plan shows that there is no need for HGVs or delivery 

vehicles to reverse out onto the highway.   

 

5. The delivery lorries will result in noise pollution and disturbance for local residents.  

 

Officer response: As mentioned above, this is a busy main road which connects 

Middleton Town Centre to the motorway and therefore it is not uncommon for large 

delivery vehicles to be traveling in this area. The Environmental Health Officer has 

raised no objection providing delivery times are restricted to between 08:00 and 20:00 

to protect residents from noise disturbance at unsociable hours.   

 

6. The proposed ATM would be vulnerable to theft from people using the machine to 

withdraw cash or the machine being attacked itself for the amount of money inside, 

with the nearby motorway an easy escape route.  

 

Officer response: ATMs are common features on retail stores and all ATMs are in 

some way vulnerable to crime, however they are also a vital service for the community. 

Greater Manchester Police have been consulted on the proposal and made no 

comment/objection to the proposal.    

 

7. The proposed use would result in an increase in the number of youths hanging around 

in this area causing anti-social behaviour and disturbance towards residents, which 

impacts upon residential privacy and safety. 

 

Officer response: Anti-social behaviour is not a reason to refuse this planning 

application. It is also acknowledged that the existing use of the site as a drinking 

establishment, which could operate until midnight Sunday – Thursday and until 01:00 

on Friday and Saturday.   

 

8. The use would increase litter in this area. 

 

Officer response: The issue of litter is often blamed on retailers/businesses, when in 

truth it is the people dropping litter rather than the retailers that are the problem. It 

Page 12



would be unreasonable to refuse the application on the grounds that customers could 

“potentially” drop litter as this could be said about many uses.         

 

9. The stores long opening hours and delivery times will have a negative impact upon the 

amenity of nearby residents. 

 

Officer response: As mentioned above the site has a long established use as a 

drinking establishment and such a use could have a greater impact upon residential 

amenity than what is proposed. Notwithstanding this, the Council’s Environmental 

Health Officer has been consulted and the hours of opening and deliveries are 

proposed to be restricted by condition to ensure the proposal would not have a 

negative impact upon residential amenity.  

 

10. The proposed use will increase alcohol abuse which is detrimental to the community. 

 

Officer response: The existing building is used as a drinking establishment whereas 

the proposal seeks permission for a retail unit.  

  

11. The Council should survey local business and local people for their views on what the 

area needs. Middleton is becoming flooded with national retailers, shops and stores 

selling similar products. 

 

Officer response: The application has not been submitted by the Council.  

The Council has a duty to determine applications submitted to it and retail choice is 

promoted by the NPPF.   

 

12. The long opening hours proposed would not give independent shop keepers a chance 

of making a living. The store opposite provides an essential delivery service to a 

disabled resident nearby and the proposed unit would cause this existing store to close 

which in turn will impact upon the community and in particular this disabled resident.  

 

Officer response: As mentioned previously, competition is not a reason to refuse this 

application.  This resident would have a choice.   

 

13. The use will impact upon property values. 

 

Officer response: Property values are not a material planning consideration.   

 

14. The proposed car park is inadequate and will result in customers parking on 

surrounding streets which could be dangerous. 

 

Officer response: The Councils UDP recommends that retail units provide one car 

parking space per 25m² of shopping floorspace. For a shop of this size 12 car parking 

spaces would therefore be considered acceptable. The proposal seeks to provide 16 

car parking spaces which comfortably exceed this.   

 

15. It is more likely that relatively disinterested employees of a national faceless 

organisation such as this may be less punctilious in enforcing licensing regulations 

than staff which own their own business. 

Page 13



 

Officer response: This is not relevant to the determination of this planning application. 

 
Neutral comments/questions -  
 

• 231 Hollin Lane is full of Japanese Knotweed which has spread into neighbouring 

gardens. Will this be addressed before the development? 

 

Officer response: GMEU have been consulted and requested a condition be attached 

requiring details of how the Japanese Knotweed will be removed from the site to be 

submitted to and agreed with the LPA.   

 

• Will neighbouring properties be provided with new fencing to provide better privacy? 

 

Officer response: The existing boundary treatments on the edge of the site would be 

retained as per existing. 

  

• How will the increase in noise levels be assessed, and what will be done to protect 

neighbouring properties? 

 

Officer response: The application has been assessed by the Council’s Environmental 

Health Officer who has raised no objection to the proposal subject to the 

recommended conditions being adhered to.   

 

• Will new pelican crossings be provided for pedestrians? 

 
Officer response: The application does not include the provision of a new pelican 

crossing for pedestrians.  The highway authority has not advised a crossing would be 

necessary.   

 

• Will there be sufficient parking at the new store? Will Lee Street become resident only 

parking to prevent public disturbance?       

 

Response: As previously mentioned, the proposal would provide more parking than 

required for a development of this size.  If the residents of Lee Street wish to see 

resident parking, they are advised to contact the Council’s Highway Service for more 

information but it is not necessary for the developer to provide this as sufficient parking 

is proposed on the site.   

 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of development  
 
Planning law requires applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) adopted in 2012 is one such material consideration.   

 

Given the NPPF was adopted in 2012, it provides up-to-date planning policies and guidance 

that can take precedence over the policies within the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan 

given it was adopted in 2006.  However, paragraph 211 of the NPPF recognises that the 

Page 14



policies in the local plan should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were 

adopted prior to the NPPF.  Rather due weight should be given to relevant policies in existing 

plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF.  The closer the policies in the 

plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given (paragraph 

215).   

 

Whilst the NPPF does not change the legal status of the development plan, it promotes a 

presumption in favour of sustainable development.  There are three dimensions to sustainable 

development: economic, social and environmental and paragraphs 18-219 of the NPPF, taken 

as a whole, constitute the Government’s view of what sustainable development means in 

practice for the planning system.    

 

Paragraph 9 of the NPPF states that pursuing sustainable development involves seeking 

positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in 

people’s quality of life, including (but not limited to): 

• making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages; 

• moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature; 

• replacing poor design with better design; 

• improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and 

• widening the choice of high quality homes.  
 

Paragraph 14 of the NPPF states that for decision making, the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development means: 

• Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 

delay; and 

• Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out‑of‑date, 
granting permission unless: 

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; 

or 

- specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 

 

The NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should encourage the effective use of 
land by re-using land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is 
not of high environmental value (paragraph 111). The application site is located within the 
defined urban area and has a long established commercial use as a Working Men’s Club.  The 
application site therefore comprises previously developed brownfield land that is not of high 
environmental value and the redevelopment of the site would therefore accord with the NPPF 
in principle.   
 
In respect of retail policy considerations, retail development is a main town centre use and the 
application site is defined as ‘out of centre’, meaning that it is not within, or on the edge of, a 
designated shopping area, but it is still within the urban area.  The proposed unit would result 
in the creation of a 280m² net retail floorspace (gross).  Policy S/8 (Retail Development 
Outside Town Centres) of the UDP permits town centre uses outside of the main town centre, 
provided that: 
 

a) The applicant has demonstrated the need for the development; 
b) The applicant has demonstrated that the sequential approach to site selection has 

been adopted and that no suitable sites or buildings that are sequentially preferable 
are available or likely to become available within a reasonable period of time; 

Page 15



c) The proposal, either by itself or together with recently completed developments or 
outstanding planning permissions, will not harm the vitality or viability of any town, 
district or local centre; 

d) The site is, or could be, widely accessible by existing or planned public transport 
provision and has good access to the Strategic Highway Network; 

e) It will not unduly affect the amenity of nearby residents or other uses by reason of 
noise, traffic generation and hours of opening; and 

f) The site is within the urban area and is well related to existing patterns of movement     
 
With regard to criterion (a) specific reference to need is not included within the NPPF and this 
part of Policy S/8 is therefore out-of-date.  Nevertheless, it is still important to consider overall 
retail capacity in the area. Officers are of the opinion that the proposed retail unit would 
provide a diverse retail by providing a wider range fresh food including fresh fruit and 
vegetable, meaning that the proposed retail unit can fully serve the ‘top up’ shopping needs of 
its local catchment. Additionally, paragraph 23 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
seeks to ‘provide customer choice and a diverse retail offer’ and therefore competition is 
supported by the NPPF.   
 
In terms of criterion b) and the sequential assessment, paragraph 24 of the NPPF seeks to 
ensure that in-centre sites are assessed before less central options are considered; it gives 
preference to accessible sites that are well connected to the town centre, and requires 
flexibility to be demonstrated on issues such as format and scale. The submitted application 
demonstrates that there are no other sequentially preferable sites within, or on the edge of, the 
allocated Local Centre (Nowell Road, Hollins) that are suitable, viable or available to 
accommodate the proposed development. The NPPF establishes that out-of-centre sites can 
be considered in such circumstances, with preference given to accessible and well-connected 
sites. 
 
The submitted plans show that the replacement unit would provide approx. 280m² of shopping 
space with an additional 150m² used for storage and staff space, resulting in a building that is 
approximately 430m² (internally) in size. The nearest local centre is more than 800m away at 
Nowell Road and given the development is intended to meet local needs, it is considered that 
the proposed store would not adversely impact on the existing local centre and would offer a 
wider range of goods than those sold within the nearby shops. The proposal would therefore 
comply with criterion (c) of Policy S/8.   
 
In terms of accessibility, the site is located on a busy main road with links to Middleton Town 
Centre and is well served by public transport. Additionally, the store will serve a large number 
of residential properties in the vicinity in both the Langley and Hollin areas and could therefore 
be accessed on foot. The proposal therefore meets the requirements of criterion (d) and (f) of 
policy S/8.  Residential amenity considerations are assessed in more detail below.        
 
In line with the NPPF, the Council’s Strategic Planning Officer has commented that there is no 
requirement for the applicant to demonstrate the impact of the proposal on the viability and 
vitality of Middleton Town Centre in the absence of an up to date Local Plan and based on the 
minimum threshold of 2,500sq m for development set out in the NPPF. Notwithstanding this, 
the nature of the development is such that it is intended to serve the needs of the properties in 
the local area and a development of this site would not unduly affect the vitality and viability of 
Middleton Town Centre.   
 
In addition to the above, the application form states that 13 full time equivalent jobs would be 
created by the development.  The proposal would therefore contribute to economic growth in 
the Borough.   
 
In summary, the principle of the development of this brownfield site for retail purposes is 
considered to be acceptable and in accordance with UDP Policy S/8 and the NPPF.   

Page 16



Layout, Scale, Design and Appearance      
 
Unitary Development Plan Policy BE/2 states that proposals will be required to demonstrate 
good design in accordance with 10 criteria. Of these the following are relevant to this decision: 

• Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of 
their scale, density, height, massing layout, materials, architectural style and detail 
and means of enclosure; 

• Providing for safe and convenient access and circulation; 

• Making adequate provision for natural light within and between buildings; 

• Minimising the potential environmental impact of and on the development, including 
noise, air and water pollution. 

 
The proposed unit would occupy a rectangular footprint with the front elevation and customer 
entrance facing east towards the proposed car parking area and Hollin Lane beyond. The 
main front elevation comprises of a combination of glazing and cladding, with large windows 
servicing the internal shopping area. The gentle sloping mono-pitched roof would protrude out 
beyond the front elevation to give emphasis to the customer entrance area. The proposed roof 
would be constructed in lightweight cladding material.  
 
The building would be compatible with the character of the area with respect to scale, height, 
massing, materials and architectural style, and would not appear incongruous in the context of 
the site being lower than the neighbouring houses. The building would complement the style 
and design of the area, with its single storey profile and gentle sloping roof. As mentioned 
above the building provides adequate separation with neighbouring properties in order to allow 
for natural light both within and between buildings.  
 
The original submission proposed external roller shutters spanning the full width of the glazing 
in the front elevation (19.4m), however the application has been amended so that only the 
central section of this elevation, containing the front entrance door and glass panel either side 
would be covered by an external roller shutter. The application does not specify the type of 
shutter and as such a condition has been attached to ensure this is an open-lattice style 
shutter. The other windows in the front elevation would be secured using shatter proof glass 
and internal roller shutters.   
 
With regard to boundary treatment and means of enclosure, the site boundary is already 
clearly defined by existing boundary treatment and the application does not seek to alter 
these. However, a 600mm high dwarf wall would be built along the front boundary with Hollin 
Lane and a new 1.5m high fence would be erected at the southern end of the site along the 
boundary shared with a section of land that was formerly associated with the Heber’s WMC 
site, but is not owned by the applicant.   
 
During initial pre-application discussions, this parcel of land was shown to be included in the 
development site however the planning application submitted by the applicant has omitted this 
parcel of land from the development site.   
 
The NPPF is clear that the planning system should play an active role in guiding development 
to sustainable solutions and states that permission should be refused for development of poor 
design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of 
an area and the way it functions (paragraph 64).  Officers have advised that the inclusion of 
this land represents a sustainable solution and if included in the development site, would serve 
to enhance the scheme and prevent a parcel of land remaining vacant and underused in the 
urban area.  The omission of this land from the site weighs against the development in the 
planning balance.   
 

Page 17



Timber fencing would also be used to enclose the bin store and plant machinery to the north of 
the building. A condition has been attached requiring details of any new boundary treatments 
to be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA before installation on site.   
   
The application includes the installation of an ATM in the front elevation of the store, and such 
a feature is commonly found on retail units such as this. Both the proposed ATM and shop 
front would be protected from ram-raiding by a row of no.20 1m high bollards spanning the full 
width of the building. These bollards would be situated between the front of the building and 
the car parking area.   
 
With the above in mind and with the exception of the omission of the parcel of land from the 
proposals, the design of the proposed development accords with the requirements of Unitary 
Development Plan Policy BE/2, as well as Section 7 of NPPF which relates to good design.  
 
Impact upon nearby residents and other uses 
 
One of the core planning principles of the NPPF is to seek to secure high quality design and a 
good standard of amenity of existing and future occupants of land and buildings.  As noted 
above, criterion (e) of Policy S/8 permits retail development providing it will not unduly affect 
the amenity of nearby residents or other uses by reason of noise, traffic generation and hours 
of opening. In addition, Policy EM/3 (Noise and New Development) states that development 
will not be permitted where: 
 

a) It would lead to unacceptable levels of noise nuisance to nearby existing or future 
occupants of buildings, or users of open space; or 

b) It involves a noise sensitive use (such as housing, a school or hospital) which would be 
sited in or close to an area that is, or is likely to become, subject to unacceptably high 
levels of noise generation. 

 
Criteria (a) and (i) of UDP policy BE/2 requires all development to demonstrate good design 
by:  
 

a) Ensuring that they are compatible with or improve their surroundings by virtue of their 
scale, density, height, massing, layout, materials, architectural style and detail and 
means of enclosure 

b) Making adequate provision for natural light within and between buildings 
 

The application site is located within the defined urban area and is generally surrounded by 
residential properties, although directly opposite is another retail unit. The premises would be 
open from 07:00 to 23:00 Monday to Saturday and 08:00 to 22:00 on Sunday, with deliveries 
taking place between 08:00 and 20:00 seven days a week. The submitted plans show that 
deliveries would be at the northern end of the building and a typical store such as the 
proposed would receive the following deliveries:  
 

• fresh deliveries a week (Mon – Sat) by artic, and these tend to be in the morning 
taking 20 mins.  

• Up to 2 ambient stock deliveries a week by artic (Mon – Sat) and these can be 
anytime taking 30 mins.  

• Daily bread deliveries (Mon – Sat), generally earlier in the day taking 5 – 10 mins.  

• Newspapers delivered daily into a container located outside the building 
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has raised no objection to the proposed hours of 
opening or deliveries sought.  The site is located on a busy main road and as such, 
background noise levels in the area will be higher. The proposed hours are in keeping with 
what would be expected from a retail unit.  Additionally, the site has a long established use as 
a drinking establishment and according to the Council’s Licensing Department, could trade 

Page 18



until midnight Sunday to Thursday and until 01:00 on Friday and Saturday. It is considered 
that the proposed use and hours applied for would be likely to have less of an impact upon the 
amenity of neighbouring residents than the current lawful use of this site.  
 
The application includes the installation of external plant machinery to the north of the building 
and a condition has been recommendation by the Environmental Health Officer requiring that 
noise levels from the plant/equipment should not exceed certain levels. The Environmental 
Health Officer has also requested that the Mitsubishi (PLA-125BA) plant operation equipment 
specified in the proposal shall only operate during store opening hours. This condition could 
however be unreasonable as the units may serve refrigeration equipment and could not 
therefore be turned off overnight.  Officers are satisfied that the noise condition restricting 
noise levels would protect the amenity of neighbouring residents.   
     
With the above in mind (including the Officer’s responses contained within the 
‘Representations’ section of this report), it is considered that the proposed development would 
not unduly affect the amenity of surrounding uses through noise, litter and hours of opening 
providing that the recommended conditions are adhered to. The proposed development 
therefore complies with the requirements of UDP Policies S/8, and EM/3. 
 
With regard to the design and layout of the site and building, the site has been laid out so that 
the building would be sited to the rear of the site with car parking in front, which would contain 
activity away from the private gardens of neighbouring dwellings.  The height and design of 
the building and levels are such that the proposal is considered to share an acceptable 
relationship with surrounding properties. The building would measure 4m in height to the rear 
and 5.5m in height at the front given the mono-pitch roof.  This relationship is similar to the 
existing building on this site and lower than the surrounding two storey houses. In terms of 
separation distances, the south facing side elevation would be set more than 28m from the 
rear elevations of the houses fronting Lee Street. The north facing side elevation would be set 
13m from the gable elevation of the semi-detached house at 327 Hollin Lane and front 
elevation of the store would be 31m from the front elevations of the properties on the opposite 
side of Hollin Lane. To the west, the rear elevations of the houses on Bonscale Crescent 
would be between 15-16m from the rear of the proposed building, however these houses are 
set on land 1.5m higher and being only 4m high to the rear, the proposed store would be 
barely visible above the existing boundary fence from the rear of these houses.  
 
In summary as a result of its siting, scale, size and height, the proposed building and site 
layout shares an acceptable relationship with surrounding residential properties in accordance 
with Policy BE/2 and the NPPF.    
 
Parking and Highways 
 
 
Unitary Development Plan Policies A/8 and A/9 relate to the safe and efficient operation of the 
highway network and access for general traffic. Policy A/7 relates to access for service 
vehicles and Policy A/10 relates to parking provision.  
 
The NPPF requires that development generating significant amounts of movement should be 
supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment (paragraph 32).  The NPPF 
states decisions should take account of whether: opportunities for sustainable transport modes 
have been taken up; safe and suitable access can be achieved; and improvements can be 
undertaken within the transport network that cost effectively limit the significant impacts of 
development.  The NPPF is clear that ‘development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe’. 
 

Page 19



Although the movement generated by this development would not be significant, the applicant 
has engaged in pre-application discussions with the highway authority and has submitted a 
Transport Statement in line with the Department for Transport guidance.   
 
The entrance to the car park would be as per the existing access point directly off Hollin Lane, 
although this would be widened to allow vehicles to safely pass. An additional entrance point 
would also be created at the southern end of the site, still off Hollin Lane, to ease vehicle 
movements in and out of the site. The Highway Officer is in support of the creation of a new 
access point in this location, along with the widening of the existing access point. There is a 
bus stop in the vicinity of the proposed access and comments have been invited from TfGM.  
Comments are awaited and will be reported to the committee in the update.     
 
The proposed development would include the provision of a formal parking area to the front of 
the building and a service area to the north/side. The proposed car park would provide 16 
spaces (one accessible) and the Highway Officer is satisfied with the level of parking that 
would be provided on the site as a development of this size only requires 12 car parking 
spaces. The proposal therefore complies with Policy A/10 and the Council’s Schedule for 
Parking Standards. 
 
With regard to deliveries, an area would be provided to the north of the building for the delivery 
of goods and the submitted site plan show vehicle ‘swept paths’ to demonstrate that delivery 
vehicles can enter and leave the site in forward gear, meaning that they should not have to 
reverse on or off the highway. Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee raised concerns 
about the proposed servicing, however the Transport Statement clearly demonstrates the 
swept path of delivery vehicles and the Highway Officer is satisfied that deliveries can 
therefore take place without detriment to road safety, traffic management and access priorities 
in accordance with Policy A/7. 
 
As noted above, following concerns raised by Middleton Township Planning Sub Committee, 
officers have explored the potential for a pedestrian refuge island on Hollin Lane.  However, 
both the highway authority and the applicant’s transport consultant have concluded that the 
Hollin Lane highway is of insufficient width to accommodate a pedestrian refuge island.  Other 
options explored including markings on the highway and signage, however the highway 
authority has stated that there is no evidence to demonstrate that road markings are beneficial 
to highway safety and to require signage would be unreasonable given the size of the store 
proposed.  The highway authority maintain that the proposed development would not be 
detrimental to highway or pedestrian safety and a resulting refusal on such grounds could not 
be substantiated on appeal.   
 
The Transport Statement identifies that there is a pedestrian refuse island on Hollin Lane 80m 
to the south of the site and a pelican crossing at the junction of Langley and Hollin Lane 120m 
to the north of the site.  Therefore, there are crossing facilities in the vicinity of the site for 
pedestrians.  The highway authority has considered the issues raised by Middleton Township 
Planning Sub Committee and is satisfied that the development would not be detrimental to 
highway or pedestrian safety.   
 
The site is accessed off Hollin Lane, a busy main road which connects Middleton Town Centre 
to the motorway and Heywood, and thus is a major strategic route. The proposed store would 
not result in a substantial increase in traffic movements when compared to the existing 
movements associated with the previous use of the site. The proposal complies with the 
requirements of UDP Policies A/8 and A/9 and the NPPF.  
 
Trees and Ecology 
 
Six trees would be removed from the southern end of the site, as well as a number of small 
trees, shrubs and bushes from the raised embankment along the western boundary of the site, 
to the rear of the existing building. The application has been accompanied by an Arboricultural 

Page 20



report which details the trees to be removed. This report states that the majority of trees are of 
low amenity value to the area (being young self-seeded multi-stemmed trees), although there 
are four early mature trees at the southern end of the site, three within the application site and 
one in the garden of 4 Lee Street which have some visual quality. These three trees within the 
application site cannot be realistically retained within the proposed development and are not 
worthy of protection under a tree preservation order and thus the submitted report 
recommends that the trees be removed and suitable replacements planted as part of 
landscaping scheme that would be more appropriate to the nature of this development.  
 
The submitted report also recommends protective fencing be erected around the trees on 
neighbouring land that are not to be felled as part of this application. This fencing can be 
erected on the applicant’s side of the boundary and should protect the trees during 
construction works. Conditions requiring the submission of a landscaping scheme and 
protective fencing measures to be installed are recommended in accordance with UDP Policy 
NE/8.   
 
In terms of ecology, Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/4 does not permit proposals which 
would affect National or European protected species unless it can be demonstrated that: 
 

a) There is no adverse impact on the species concerned; 
b) Loss of, or damage to habitats supporting such species is minimal and, where 

required, adequate alternative habitats are provided to sustain at least the current 
levels of the population of the species; and  

c) Where a proposal affects a European Protected Species, it fulfils the appropriate 
criteria for development as set out in National European legislation.  

 
Paragraph 007 of the Natural Environment section of the NPPG confirms that under Section 
40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, all public authorities should 
have regard to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. Paragraph 016 of this section also 
states that “An ecological survey will be necessary in advance of a planning application if the 
type and location of development are such that the impact on biodiversity may be significant 
and existing information is lacking or inadequate.” Additionally Paragraph 118 of the NPPF 
states that LPAs should aim not only to conserve, but also enhance biodiversity.  
 
The submitted application includes the demolition of an existing building, along with the felling 
of a number of trees/shrubs, and relevant bat and bird surveys have been submitted with the 
application. The submitted bat survey found no evidence or sign of bats during the internal and 
external inspections, and concluded that the building has low potential for bat roosting and any 
potential areas for bats to roost within the building have now been blocked up. As such the 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) have raised no objection to work commencing on 
site, although they have commented that if the demolition is not commenced before 30th April 
2016, a new bat survey would be required.     
 
With regard to birds nesting in the surrounding trees which are to be felled, both the submitted 
report and Ecology Unit are of the opinion that no vegetation should be removed during bird 
breeding season (1st March – 31st August) unless birds are found to be absent and a condition 
has been attached to ensure this is the case.  
 
The submitted report also highlighted that Japanese Knotweed was found on site and 
therefore a condition is recommended to require a scheme for the treatment of this knotweed 
to be submitted for approval.   
 
Finally, whilst the ecological impacts of the development are considered to be low, the 
application does involve the removal of a number of trees/shrubs and thus the applicant’s 
report has recommended that a soft landscape management plan be submitted to the LPA. 
The Ecology Unit support this recommendation and have requested such a condition is 

Page 21



attached to any recommendation. The potential soft landscaping scheme has been discussed 
with the applicant’s agent and there is scope to provide replacement trees and shrubbery at 
the southern end of the site, and other areas within the site could potentially be utilised to 
provide low lying flower beds.  
 
Provided the above conditions are adhered to it is considered that the development can take 
place without negatively impacting upon trees and protected species in accordance with UDP 
Policies NE/4 and NE/8, as well as guidance within the NPPF and NPPG.  
 
Conclusion         

 
The proposed development omits a parcel of land that was formerly associated with the 
Heber’s WMC as it is not within the ownership of the applicant.  The inclusion of this parcel of 
land would enhance the scheme and prevent it remaining vacant and underused in the urban 
area.  The omission of this land from the site weighs against the development and this harm 
must be weighed in the planning balance.   
 
The proposal would make use of previously developed land and would enhance the 
appearance of the site within the street scene.  The proposed retail unit would provide 
consumer choice to serve the ‘top up’ shopping requirements of the local area and would 
contribute to the local economy, including through job creation. The design of the unit is 
considered to be acceptable in this location and the building will share an acceptable 
relationship with surrounding residential properties in terms of the siting, scale, height and size 
of the building. Additionally, the proposed development would not unduly impact upon the 
amenity of neighbouring uses, subject to conditions and the parking and access arrangements 
are also acceptable.  The proposed development would have no undue impact on protected 
species subject to appropriate conditions to ensure and an appropriate scheme of landscaping 
and biodiversity mitigation to ensure no net loss of biodiversity.  Officers consider that the 
benefits of this scheme would outweigh the harm that arises as a result of the omission of the 
adjacent parcel of land.  It is therefore recommended that planning permission is granted.    
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT subject to following conditions: 
 
 

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.  

   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following plans:-   
   
 PL-001 Rev C (amended plan received 5th May 2015)  
 PL-002 Rev C (amended plan received 5th May 2015)  
 PL-005 Rev A (amended plan received 5th May 2015)  
   
 and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 

hereby approved.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Page 22



  
 3 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground works 

shall take place until samples or full details of materials to be used externally on the 
building have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Such details shall include the type, colour and texture of the materials. Only 
the materials so approved shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such 
approval.  

   
 Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 

in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 4 No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment (in addition 

to any assessment provided with the planning application) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The assessment shall investigate 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site (whether or not it originates on 
the site). The assessment shall be undertaken by competent persons and a written 
report of the findings submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any development takes place. The submitted report shall include: 

   
 i)  a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination  
 ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
                 • human health,  

    • property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland, and service lines and pipes,  

                 • adjoining land,  
                 • groundwaters and surface waters,  
                 • ecological systems,  
                 • archaeological sites and ancient monuments;  
 
 iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial options and 

proposal of the preferred option(s) to form a remediation strategy for the site. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly approved 
remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before any part of the development hereby approved is 
first occupied.   

   
 Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to ensure the safe 

development of the site in the interests of the amenity of future occupiers in 
accordance with Unitary Development Plan policies EM/4, EM/8 and BE/2, and the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: It is necessary to establish the nature and 

extent of the ground conditions before any works commence on site to ensure any 
contamination is appropriately dealt with to prevent pollution of the water environment 
and to ensure the safe development of the site.   

 
 5 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, within 3 months of development first taking place, full 
details of the siting, height, design, materials and finish to be used in the construction 
of all boundary treatments to the site, and fencing within the site,  shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The duly approved boundary 
treatments shall be constructed in full accordance with the approved details before the 
development hereby approved is first brought into use and retained as such thereafter 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.   

     

Page 23



 Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of visual amenity 
and to ensure adequate levels of privacy between neighbouring uses in accordance 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/2 and S/8 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 6 The retail unit for hereby approved shall not be open for trade or business before 07:00 

hours nor after 23:00 hours, Monday to Saturday inclusive, nor before 08:00 hours nor 
after 22:00 on Sunday and Bank Holidays.  

   
 Reason: In order to prevent nuisance arising in accordance with Policies BE/2, S/8 and 

EM/3 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.   

 
 7 No loading or unloading of service and delivery vehicles to and from the retail unit 

hereby approved shall take place except between the hours of 08:00 - 22:00 on any 
day.  

   
 Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of the area and to prevent nuisance 

arising in accordance with Policies BE/2, S/8 and EM/3 of the Rochdale Unitary 
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 8 No development shall take place until a construction management plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved management plan at all times 
during the construction period.  For the aviodance of doubt, the plan shall include:
  

 i) the hours of construction working  
 ii) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors  
 iii) loading and unloading of plant and materials  
 iv) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development  
 v) the erection and maintenance of security fencing  
 vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction  
 vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works  
   
 Reason. To protect the amenities of the residents of the adjacent dwellings, in 

accordance with Unitary Development Plan Policies BE/2 and EM/3 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition:  The application site is adjoined by 

residential properties and all site works associated with the proposed development 
have the potential to affect the amenity of the occupiers of nearby properties and the 
operation of the highway.  An appropriate construction management plan needs to be 
in place at the time of commencement. 

 
 9 Noise from the plant machinery, including any extraction, refrigeration, and air 

conditioning systems, shall not exceed 40 dB(A) leq 5 minutes between 23:00 and 
07:00 and  50 dB(A) Leq 1hr between 07:00 and 23:00 when measured 1m from the 
façade of noise sensitive premises.  

   
 Reason: In order to protect the amenities of neighbouring uses in accordance with 

Policies BE/2, S/8 and EM/3 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

Page 24



10 No above ground construction works shall take place until a scheme for the post 
construction 'hard' landscaping treatment of the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include 
details of the proposed surface treatment of the access, parking areas, paths or other 
hard-surfaced areas and any street furniture, (including any lighting columns, bollards, 
bins etc).The approved details shall thereafter be fully implemented in accordance with 
a timescale that has been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

     
 Reason: In the interest of highway and pedestrian safety, in accordance with Policies 

BE/2, A/9 and A/10 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. 
 
11 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, within three months of the commencement of 
development of the retail unit hereby approved, a landscaping scheme for the site shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a 
scheme shall include details of the type, species, siting, planting distances and 
programme of planting of any trees and shrubs. The duly approved landscaping 
scheme shall be carried out within 12 months of the retail unit first being brought into 
use and the areas which are landscaped shall be retained as landscaped areas 
thereafter. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming 
seriously diseased within three years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of 
similar size and species to those originally required to be planted.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping in the interests of visual 

amenity in accordance with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies 
BE/2 and BE/8. 

 
12 No external lighting shall be installed on the building or elsewhere on the site without 

the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. Details of any such lighting 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
installation.  The external lighting shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details.    

   
 Reason: In order to protect species present in the area and to prevent nuisance arising 

in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13 Within three months of the commencement of development of the retail unit hereby 

approved, details of the construction and design of the external refuse recycling/bin 
store shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority. The 
duly approved facility shall be made available for use before the retail unit hereby 
approved is first brought into use and retained thereafter.  

   
 Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory facilities for the storage of refuse and 

recycling and in the interest of visual amenity in accordance with Policy BE/2 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. 

 
14 No above ground construction works shall take place until details of the means of foul 

water disposal have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The details, as approved, shall be implemented in full before the 
development hereby permitted is first brought into use.    

     
 Reason: To secure a satisfactory system of drainage and to prevent pollution of the 

water environment in accordance with Policies EM/7 and EM/8 of the Council’s Unitary 
Development Plan. 

 

Page 25



15 The external roller shutters hereby approved shall be of the open lattice style/design of 
which a sample or full details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to installation on site. The shutters shall be installed and 
thereafter retained in accordance with the approved design and colour of the shutters.   

   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in order to ensure a satisfactory appearance 

in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policies BE/2 and BE/5 of the 
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan.   

 
16 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the requirements of 

condition 2 of this permission, within three months of the commencement of 
development of the retail unit hereby approved, a landscaping scheme and 
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.  The 
content of the plan should include elements to mitigate for loss of trees shrubs and bird 
nesting habitat and ensure no lighting impacts on features identified as being of value 
to bats. The approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and retained as such thereafter.  

   
 Reason: In order to achieve a satisfactory level of landscaping in the interests of visual 

amenity, and to enhance the ecology value and biodiversity of the area in accordance 
with the requirements of Unitary Development Plan policies BE/2, BE/8, NE/3 and 
NE/8 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
17 No development shall take place until a detailed method statement for the removal or 

management of Japanese Knotweed on the site has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The method statement shall include 
proposed measures to prevent the spread of Japanese Knotweed during any 
operations such as mowing, strimming or soil movement. It shall also contain 
measures to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of the seeds / root / stem 
of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
Development shall thereafter proceed in strict accordance with the duly approved 
method statement.  

     
 Reason: Japanese Knotweed are invasive plants, the spread of which is prohibited 

under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Without measures to prevent its spread 
as a result of the development there would be the risk of an offence being committed 
and avoidable harm to the environment.  

   
 Reason for pre-commencement condition: All site works could result in the spread of 

invasive species and it is therefore necessary to ensure that a method statement is in 
place before commencement.   

 
18 No vegetation clearance shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in any 

year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist has been 
carried out immediately prior to clearance, the results of which shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority to confirm that no active bird 
nests are present.   

   
 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to nesting birds in accordance with 

Unitary Development Plan Policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
19 Notwithstanding the requirements of condition 1 of this permission, if the demolition of 

the existing building does not commence before 30th April 2016, no demolition shall 
take place until the results of a further protected species survey to reassess the bat 
roosting potential of the building, including mitigation where necessary, has been 
submittted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Demolition shall 

Page 26



thereafter take place in accordance with the approved survey and any identified 
mitigation.   

   
 Reason: In order to prevent any habitat disturbance to bats in accordance with Unitary 

Development Plan Policy NE/3 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
Report Author Robert Major 

 
 
  _______________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 27



Application Number: 15/00676/FUL    Ward: Castleton       
 

 
Proposal: Change of use from industrial unit to canine hydrotherapy centre and 
grooming room (including reception area, wet room and changing) 
 

Site Address: Unit 2 Harp Industrial Estate  Queensway Rochdale Lancashire 
 

Applicant: Mr Cameron Shammi 
                  K9Splash Limited 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Grant subject to conditions 
 

 
 
DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
At the meeting of the Rochdale Township Planning Sub Committee on 4th August 2015, 
Members of the Committee resolved unanimously that they were minded to grant planning 
permission. The application is referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee for 
determination in accordance with the Scheme of Delegation as the proposal represents a 
departure from the Rochdale Unitary Development Plan. The Planning and Licensing 
Committee can determine the application either way on reasonable planning grounds. 
 
SITE 
 
This application relates to a single storey industrial unit at Unit 2, Harp Industrial Estate, off 
Queensway in Rochdale. Unit 2 is currently vacant.  The site lies within the Defined Urban 
Area in a Primary Employment Zone. 
 
The unit is one of several attached units, one of which operates as a garage and MOT centre 
and one operates as a security systems unit.  The units are served by a reasonable-sized 
shared car park, located to the front of the units. 
 

Page 28



PROPOSAL 
 
This application seeks permission to change the use from an industrial unit (currently vacant) 
to a canine hydrotherapy centre and grooming room (sui-generis use). No external alterations 
are proposed to facilitate the change of use. 
 
The application form states that five car parking spaces are provided. From undertaking the 
Officer site visit, it is clear that the car parking area is shared between the businesses. 
 
The proposed hours of use are 10:00-21:00 Monday to Friday, 09:00-18:00 on Saturdays, and 
10:00-16:00 on Sundays. 
 
The application form states that there would be one full time and two part time employees at 
the site. 
 
Internally, the unit would include hydrotherapy equipment; a grooming room; wet room with 
toilet, sink and shower; changing area; reception and waiting area. 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government published the NPPF on 27 March 
2012.  The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are 
expected to be applied.   
 
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 
The government published its NPPG on 6 March 2014. This is intended to complement the 
NPPF and to provide a single resource for planning guidance, whilst rationalising and 
streamlining the material. Almost all previous planning Circulars and advice notes have been 
cancelled. Specific reference will be made to the NPPG or other national advice in the 
Analysis section of the report, where appropriate. 
 
Unitary Development Plan (UDP): 
 
G/D/1   Defined Urban Area 
 
G/BE/1 Design Quality 
BE/2   Design Criteria for New Development 
 
G/EC/1 Employment Land Supply 
EC/3   Mixed Employment Zone 
EC/8  Development Sites in Employment Zones 
 
G/A/1  Accessibility 
A/8  New Development – Capacity of the Highway Network 
A/9   New Development – Access for General Traffic 
A/10   New Development – Provision of Parking 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
None of relevance.  
 

Page 29



CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
Highways and Engineering: No highway objections.  
 
Highways (Drainage): No comments. 
 
Strategic Planning: The proposal is located within a Primary Employment Zone and therefore 
policy EC/2 of the adopted Unitary Development Plan (UDP) is relevant. This policy states that 
uses, other than those in use classes B1, B2 and B8, will only be permitted if it can be shown 
that they are ancillary and complementary (both in terms of size and function) to the industrial 
and business nature of the employment area. Examples given include small-scale shops, 
cafes, banks and nurseries to serve the needs of the local workforce. This proposal cannot be 
considered as complementary or ancillary and therefore must be treated as a departure from 
policy EC/2. 
 
Since the UDP was adopted, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been 
published. NPPF seeks to promote economic growth and generally take takes a more flexible 
approach to employment generating uses outside those defined as B1, B2 and B8. The 
applicant has demonstrated that the proposed sui generis use will provide jobs within the site. 
In addition, the nature of a canine hydrotherapy centre and associated grooming room means 
that they are most appropriately located within existing employment areas, and away from 
residential areas where those occupiers may experience a reduced level of amenity through 
noise nuisance. 
 
Taking account of the above, it is my view that a departure from policy is considered 
appropriate in this instance. I therefore conclude that the proposal should be recommended for 
approval.  
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
The appropriate neighbouring properties were notified of the application by letter and the 
application has also been advertised in the local press and via a site notice, as a scheme 
which is a departure from the adopted Unitary Development Plan.  
 
No representations have been received. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle 
 
Policy G/EC/1 seeks to ensure that the Borough is provided with an adequate supply of land 
and premises for employment generating uses that meets local needs and contributes to 
meeting regional needs. 
 
Policy EC/2 states that within Primary Employment Zones development and change of use, for 
industrial, business and warehouse uses (Use Classes B1, B2 and B8) will be permitted where 
proposals: 

• Are of an appropriate scale and character to the area; 

• Will cause no unacceptable environmental or amenity problems in the employment 
area or adjoining areas; and 

• Will cause no unacceptable traffic problems and have adequate on-site provision 
for parking, servicing and manoeuvring. 

 
Other uses will not be permitted unless it can be shown that they are ancillary and 
complementary (both in terms of size and function) to the industrial and business nature of the 

Page 30



employment area. It is considered that the proposal would not comply with the ‘exception’ 
criteria set out in policy EC/3 and is therefore a departure from that policy. 
 
Despite the above, it is considered that the context of the building in which the unit lies, and 
the location of the site away from residential uses and adjacent to commercial and business 
uses, are material considerations which should be considered in assessing the acceptability of 
the proposed use in this location. 
 
Although the proposed development is a departure from the adopted UDP, the NPPF was 
published subsequent to the adoption of the UDP and the most up-to-date policy takes 
precedence. The NPPF seeks to promote economic growth and generally takes a more 
flexible approach to employment generating uses, including additional uses over and above 
B1, B2 and B8. The nature of this business means it would be appropriately located within this 
existing employment area, given the fact it is creating jobs and would be accessible to 
customers located adjacent to a main highway, with adequate parking provided. 
 
It is considered that the immediate neighbouring uses, as a car garage and MOT test centre, 
and as a security systems unit, attract customers wishing to use the services of these 
businesses, and create jobs. This proposal would support the economic growth of this 
industrial estate and does create jobs. Therefore, the use is considered to be complimentary. 
 
In light of the above, it is considered that whilst the proposed use would not be ancillary to the 
industrial and business nature of the employment area, it would complement other uses at 
Harp Industrial Estate and would be an acceptable use in this location.  The principle of the 
development therefore accords with the NPPF.     
 
Highways and parking 
 
Policies A/8, A/9 and A/10 require new development to be able to provide a safe and 
satisfactory access, not be detrimental to the safe and efficient operation of the highway 
network and to offer adequate parking provision. 
 
The access to the premises is already established as being safe and satisfactory. It is 
considered that adequate parking is provided within the industrial estate for the proposed use. 
The comments provided by the Highways Officer have raised no objections, and so the 
access, parking and impact upon the local highway network capacity or road safety is 
considered to be acceptable. 
 
In light of the above, the development is considered to be in accordance with Policies A/8, A/9 
and A/10, providing safe, satisfactory access, no detrimental impact upon the highway network 
and adequate parking provision for the proposed use. 
 
Impact on Surrounding Uses 
 
As mentioned earlier in this report, it is considered that the proposed use would operate in a 
similar manner to the other uses currently located at the site. Harp Industrial Estate is located 
a sufficient distance from neighbouring residential properties and the proposed change of use 
would not impact upon residential amenity. Given the nature of the area and the distance from 
residential receptors, a condition controlling the hours of use is not considered necessary. 
 
The level of parking provision proposed for this development is considered to be acceptable. It 
is therefore considered that the development would not lead to undue impacts upon 
surrounding uses in terms of parking provision, and would operate in a similar manner to the 
other uses within the site.  Vehicle movements would be common for the other uses located at 
the site, and it is considered that the vehicle movements for this use would not be substantially 
different. 

Page 31



 
It is considered that although the unit is located opposite the Grade II listed Arrow Mill, and is 
visible from the adjacent Queensway highway, no external alterations are proposed and 
therefore no visual harm would occur as a result of this development. Any external signage 
would require separate advertisement consent. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
It is considered that although the development would not be considered ancillary to other uses 
in the industrial estate and therefore represents a departure from the adopted Unitary 
Development Plan, it would be complementary as it would provide business space for an 
employment generating use, complementing the other uses located within close proximity.  
The NPPF provides greater flexibility on the types of uses that may be appropriate in such 
areas and it is considered that the site is an appropriate location for this type of use.  It is 
therefore recommended that planning permission is granted.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions:- 
 

 1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning 
with the date of this permission.  

   
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
 2 This permission relates to the following plans:-   
   
 • Proposed floor plans.  
 • Location plan. Scale 1:1250.  
 • Location plan. Scale 1:500.  
   
 and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with these drawings 

hereby approved.  
   
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 

development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted Rochdale 
Unitary Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

  
 
 
Report Author Ben Sandover 

 
 
  __________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



Application Number: 15/00497/CONS    Ward: Norden       
 

 
Proposal: Consultation from Rossendale BC in regard to - Construction and operation 
of 16 wind turbines (2 in Rochdale) with a maximum height to the tip of the blade of 115 
metres (above ground level) for a temporary period of 25 years together with: 
-  The installation of associated ancillary infrastructure 
-  The installation of an anemometer mast of a maximum 60m height 
-  Retention of necessary elements of ancillary infrastructure associated with the 
existing Scout Moor Wind Farm 
-  A scheme of moorland restoration and management (MRMP) 
-  Erection of boundary treatments and pen in association with creation of a permissive 
bridleway 
- Formation of paths for pedestrians and horse-riders to link with access tracks and 
existing Rights of Way  
 
 

Site Address: Land At Scout Moor And Near Edenfield, Rossendale     
 

Applicant: Scout Moor Wind Farm Expansion Limited 
                   
 

 
DELEGATION 
 
This report relates to a consultation request from Rossendale Borough Council. Neighbouring 
authorities are required to consult this Council on applications for ‘development likely to affect 
land’ in the Borough. Such consultations, where they are for ‘strategic applications’, fall to be 
considered by the Planning and Licensing Committee and do not pass through the Township 
Planning Sub-Committees. It is, however, not for this Committee or indeed this Council to 
make a determination on the development subject of this consultation. Rossendale are the 
determining authority. The Committee is requested simply to give its views on the proposal 
which will be noted and reported to Rossendale. 
 
N.B. The views of the Committee are sought only on the 14 turbines within the 
Rossendale boundary in respect of this consultation and comments must be limited to 
the impacts of these turbines. The planning application in respect of 2 turbines, 
submitted to Rochdale, will on current timescales be before Members for determination 
in September 2015. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Members will be aware that a planning application for the expansion of the existing Scout 
Moor Wind Farm was submitted to the Council earlier this year (ref. 15/00395/FUL). For the 
avoidance of doubt this report does not relate to that planning application which is expected to 
be reported to the Rochdale Township Planning Sub-Committee and the Planning and 
Licensing Committee in September.  
 
However, the application site straddles the boundary of Rochdale and Rossendale and 
identical applications were submitted to each authority. It is for each authority to make a 
decision only on that development that is being proposed within their boundary, which in the 
case of Rochdale Borough Council, relates to two of the 16 additional turbines proposed. The 
other 14 are within the Rossendale boundary and it is for Rossendale to determine their 
impact, including any impact on land within Rochdale.  
 

Page 33



Members will recall that all Members of the affected Townships were invited to submit any 
comments they may have had on the 14 turbines within Rossendale’s area. Only two 
responses were received and these are reported below.  
 
SITE 
 
The existing Scout Moor Wind Farm 
 
The existing wind farm at Scout Moor was commissioned in 2009 and comprises a total of 26 
(2.5kW) wind turbines, with a hub height of 60m and a maximum blade tip height of 100m. 
These turbines stand on elevated moorland at Scout Moor and Knowl Moor. Vehicular access 
to the wind farm is via the access road leading to Marshall’s Quarry, from a point on the A680, 
within Rossendale and the turbines are then reached from a network of access tracks across 
the moor.  
 
The current application area in Rossendale BC 
 
The application site extends over an area of 140.85 hectares and comprises land located 
between the turbines and access tracks of the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm and the 
adjoining land to the north. The site area also includes some of the existing access tracks 
associated with the Scout Moor Wind Farm.  
 
The application site, apart from the southern section, which encompasses the two turbines in 
Rochdale, is located in Rossendale and comprises an area of elevated moorland and due to 
historical quarrying, stock piles of quarry waste are a common feature located on the edges of 
the moorland plateau. To the north east of the site, the proposed development is located 
adjacent to the Pennine Bridleway, which encompasses the Mary Towneley Loop. The 
Rossendale Way public footpath also passes through the western and northern parts of the 
application site, whist the Rochdale Way passes along the south western part of the 
application site.  
 
Large areas of the application site are underlain by peat deposits of varying depth, although 
the peat habitat is known to be in a generally poor condition. This degraded condition of peat 
is due to a number of inter-related factors across the whole area, including; managed burns 
and wildfires, inappropriate livestock management and also the use of the moorland by 
motorcycles and off-road vehicles. These problems have, amongst other things, resulted in the 
exposure of bare peat and the formation of gullies, caused by the erosion of peat habitat. The 
application site does however support a range of upland habitats, including dry and wet 
modified bog, acid grassland, marshy grassland, ditches, ponds and man-made features such 
as access tracks, existing quarries and disused quarries.  
 
Given the elevated position of Scout Moor, views of the moor and the existing turbines are 
available throughout much of Rochdale and Rossendale, as well as from surrounding upland 
areas. Views of the application site are also available from the M66, M60, M62 and A627M 
motorways. 
 
The application site for the development also includes a car park at Edenfield Community 
Centre which would be used for temporary car parking during the construction period.  
 
Members will recall that at their meeting of 25 June 2015 the Planning and Licensing 
Committee resolved that they would  refuse planning permission for  a development of 12 
turbines at Rooley Moor (ref. 14/00877/FUL), to  the east of the Scout Moor site. .  
 
These applications are, and should be considered as, separate proposals although 
consideration can of course be given to cumulative impacts.  To assist Members in the 
consideration of cumulative impacts, a planning history of wind energy development in 

Page 34



Rochdale and beyond, can be found at Appendix A although Members are of course not 
limited to the sites identified.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
The application is Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) development and as such has 
been accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES) under the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended). Further 
Environmental Information (FEI) has been submitted and this is intended to address the 
comments of statutory and other consultees and supplemented the information submitted in 
the ES.  
 
The consultation is in respect of the development of 14 turbines in the Rossendale area, along 
with the following ancillary works; 

• The construction of access tracks,  

• Crane pads 

• Underground cabling 

• Anemometer mast 

• Construction compound and substation/substation compound 
 
Planning permission is sought for a temporary period of 25 years from the date of first 
exportation of electricity to the national grid. The existing Scout Moor Wind Farm is required to 
be decommissioned in 2034, whereas the proposed development is likely to be 
decommissioned in circa 2042. If approved there will therefore potentially be a period of 
approximately eight years where the proposed development will exist without the existing 
Scout Moor Wind Farm. The current planning application therefore also seeks permission to 
retain those elements of the ancillary infrastructure associated with the existing Scout Moor 
Wind Farm, which are required to enable the operation of the 14 turbines proposed in this 
application, until they are due to be decommissioned.  
 
The 14 turbines in the Rossendale area would each have a total height to the tip of 115 metres 
and they would be a 3 bladed design, with an anticipated maximum capacity of 2.3MW. The 
turbines are proposed to be coloured appropriately to reduce their contrast with the 
background sky and landscape and the precise RAL colour could be agreed via a planning 
condition. The turbines would be uniform in colour and would not include any company logos 
or similar. Electricity transformers would be housed within the individual turbine towers.  
 
The wind turbines in Rossendale would comprise eight turbines laid out in a roughly north-
south profile, extended north of the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm, and the remaining six 
turbines would be laid out as infill and off-shoots to the existing development.  
 
The turbines would be supported on reinforced concrete foundations, the type and design of 
which will be informed by specific ground conditions.  
 
Adjacent to each turbine a crane pad would be constructed and these will total up to 100sq 
metres in size and will facilitate the construction, maintenance and eventual decommissioning 
of the development..  
 
The existing access tracks for the Scout Moor Windfarm will be used for the purpose of 
construction and access of the development. New internal access tracks will however be 
required to link turbine bases and these would total up to 6.6km in length. The new tracks 
would have a minimum width of 5.0 metres with a 1.0 metre buffer either side (i.e. total width 
of 7 metres).  
 
A new substation and compound is also proposed at the cable exit from the application site. 
This will comprise a building of circa 220 square metres, standing to a maximum ridge height 

Page 35



of 4.86 metres, with adjoining hardsurfacing for vehicle parking. The control building would 
contain the wind farm and district network operator switch rooms, storage areas and welfare 
facilities.  
 
A temporary site compound/storage area would also be constructed during the construction 
phase of the development and this would be sited within Marshalls Quarry.   This would 
comprise an area of up to 4,800 sqm and would be fenced to a height of 3 metres. The 
compound would be surface with compacted hard core and contain temporary port-a-cabins 
for staff, a concrete batching plant, staff car parking and storage areas for construction 
materials. Upon completion of the construction period, the site compound would be removed 
and the area reinstated.  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
Each turbine will be connected to the proposed substation via underground cabling that will be 
laid in trenches excavated alongside the existing and proposed access tracks.  
 
As part of the application it has been requested that any approval include a condition relating 
to micrositing and this would allow for the micrositing of each turbine, access track and 
associated infrastructure within 30 metres of the location currently proposed. This is to allow 
for flexibility based on matters such as ground or design features.  
 
The application also includes a Moorland Restoration and Management Plan and this includes 
proposals to restore an area of the degraded peat moorland.  
 
The proposed development would be connected to the national grid via the Rossendale Bulk 
Supply Point which is located 3.3km north-west of the application site, via underground cabling 
within the public highway.   
 
RELEVANT SITE HISTORY 
 
Application by Scout Moor Wind Farm Limited for consent to construct and operate a wind 
turbine generation station under Section 36 of the Electricity Act 1989 – Approved following a 
public inquiry in 2005. 
 
15/00395/FUL – Construction and operation of 16 wind turbines (2 in Rochdale) with a 
maximum height to the tip of the blade of 115 metres (above ground level) for a temporary 
period of 25 years together with: the installation of associated ancillary infrastructure, the 
installation of an anemometer mast of a maximum 60m height, retention of necessary 
elements of ancillary infrastructure associated with the existing Scout Moor Wind Farm, a 
scheme of moorland restoration and management (MRMP), erection of boundary treatments 
and pen in association with creation of a permissive bridleway, formation of paths for 
pedestrians and horse-riders to link with access tracks and existing Rights of Way – 
Undetermined (due before Committee in September 2015) 
 
VIEWS OF MEMBERS OF TOWNSHIPS 
 
On 16 July 2015, all Members of Rochdale, Heywood and Pennines Townships were 
contacted to seek their views on the consultation. The following responses were received:- 
 
Cllr James Gartside: 
 
“Some of T1 –T14 will have the same impact as T15 and T16, with just a boundary line 
between. So my objections for the Rossendale section will be the same as yours for those two 
in Rochdale Borough.” 
 

Page 36



(NB. Members should note for the avoidance of doubt that notwithstanding the above 
comment from Councillor Gartside no view has been expressed by officers to any Member or 
and the report to Committee has yet to be compiled). 
 
 Cllr Jane Gartside: 
 
“We residents of Norden in particular but essentially the whole of Rochdale, the turbines are 
visible everywhere, will have an approach to the area along Edenfield Road which will be a 
forest of turbines. Enough is enough. No More Turbines. Rochdale needs an attractive aspect 
to encourage future residents” 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
An Environmental Statement has been submitted in support of the application and this has 
chapters addressing the material considerations that are relevant in the assessment of the 
application. These material considerations are listed below and Members have the opportunity 
to comment, on some, all or none of these matters. While this development must be 
considered on its own merits, account can also be taken of any cumulative impacts that 
Members may or may not identify.  
 
Members are reminded should restrict their consideration to the 14 turbines within Rossendale 
and also to planning matters.  
 

• Landscape and visual amenity 

• Cultural heritage 

• Ecology 

• Ornithology 

• Residential amenity 

• Noise  

• Shadow Flicker 

• Residential visual amenity 

• Highways and transportation 

• Hydrology, hydrogeology and geology 

• Peatland condition and earth sciences 

• Aviation 

• Telecommunications 

• Socio-economic 

• Public access for informal recreation 

• Waste management   
 
SUMMARY 
 
Members are reminded that this is simply a consultation from Rossendale for which Rochdale 
are not the determining authority. Members are requested to give their views on the proposal, 
on planning grounds, and these will be noted and reported to Rossendale Council in order that 
they may take them into account in their determination of the application.  
 
For completeness and by way of reminder, Members should strictly constrain their 
consideration and comments to the proposal in the Rossendale BC area and not the part of 
the application site in the Rochdale area, which will be before Members for determination in 
2015. Members should refrain from any comment in relation to the part of the application in the 
Rochdale area for the purposes of this consultation. 
 

Page 37



Officers will on behalf of Rochdale formulate and send a summary of responses to 
Rossendale BC following comments from the Committee, as well as forward the comments 
received from the two Ward Councillors. 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

History of other wind development in Rochdale and neighbouring authorities 
 
Applications in Rochdale 
 
Rooley Moor 
 
14/00877 – Erection of 12 wind turbine generators (maximum height to tip of 125m), 
construction of access tracks and crane pads, formation of borrow pits for the extraction of 
stone for on-site construction works, erection of 70m high meteorological mast, erection of 
substation, transformer housings, control room and associated laydown area and construction 
compound, associated infrastructure and development ancillary thereto – Refused (appeal 
lodged)  
 
Crook Hill  
 
07/D48920 – Erection and operation of 7 turbines with associated ancillary infrastructure for 
the generation of wind power – Appeal Allowed  
Crook Hill/Shore Moor, North of Watergrove Reservoir, Rochdale  
 
08/D51145 – Erection and operation of 4 wind turbines with associated ancillary infrastructure 
for the generation of wind power (revised proposal for the previously submitted planning 
application D48920) – Appeal Allowed  
Cross Hill/Shore Moor, North of Watergrove Reservoir, Rochdale 
 
11/D54095 – Revised access arrangements to serve the approved wind farm at Crook Hill for 
a total of 12 turbines using parts of the approved access track layouts for planning 
permissions D45920 and D51145, including the re-alignment of some sections of those 
access tracks and junctions, together with the re-positioning of the approved anemometer 
mast – Approved 
Crook Hill/Shore Moor, North of Watergrove Reservoir, Rochdale 
 
11/D54145 – Revised access arrangements using a new access route from the A671 at 
Shawforth, along Landgate, through Middle Hill Quarry and over Rough Hill to serve the 
approved wind farm at Cross Hill for a total of 12 wind turbines and using parts of the 
approved access track layouts for the planning permission D48920 and D51145, including the 
re-alignment of some sections of those access tracks and junctions and together with the re-
positioning of the approved anemometer mast and the temporary construction compound – 
Approved 
Crook Hill/Shore Moor, North of Watergrove Reservoir, Rochdale  
 
Applications in Rossendale 
 
Rooley Moor  
 
2014/0388 – Erection of 12 wind turbine generators (maximum height to tip of 125m), 
construction of access tracks and crane pads, formation of borrow pits for the extraction of 
stone for on site construction works, erection of 70m height meteorological mast, erection of 

Page 38



substation, transformer housings, control room and associated laydown area and construction 
compound, associated infrastructure and development ancillary thereto – Undetermined 
Land to the east and west of Rooley Moor Road, Rochdale 
 
Scout Moor 
 
Application by Scout Moor Wind Farm Limited for consent to construct and operate a wind 
turbine generation station under Section 36 of the Electricity Act 1989 – Approved 2005 
 
2015/0112 – Scout Moor Wind Farm Extension – 16 wind turbines up to 115m to blade tip (14 
of which are in Rossendale) and associated ancillary infrastructure – Undetermined 
Scout Moor Wind Farm, Rochdale 
 
Crook Hill 
 
2011/0030 – Revised access arrangements using a new access route from A671 at 
Shawforth, along Landgate, through Middle Hill Quarry and over Rough Hill to serve approved 
Wind Farm at Crook Hill – Approved 
Land at Crook Hill, Reddyshore, Scout Gate Lane, Todmorden 
 
Reaps Moss 
 
2007/125 – Three turbines - Appeal Allowed 
Reaps Moss  
 
2010/0479 – To amend the application site boundary to embrace the full sweep of the blades 
of the 3 wind turbines permitted by planning permission 2007/125 – Approved 
Reaps Moss, Bacup 
 
2012 – 0165 – Modifications to the infrastructure for the consented Reaps Moss Wind Farm, 
including new site entrance arrangements, rearranged construction compound, and alteration 
to cutting, access road & hardstandings  - Approved 
Land east of Bacup and south of Bacup Road known as Reaps Moss Wind Farm, Todmorden 
Road, Bacup 
 
Gorpley Reservoir/Inchfield Moor 
 
2012/0526 – Construction of 5no wind turbines of a maximum height of 125m to blade-tip and 
associated infrastructure, including 85m high meteorological mast, switch gear/control 
building, crane hardstandings and access tracks extending from Bacup Rd, Todmorden – 
Approved 
Inchfield Moor between Todmorden Road & Bacup  
 
Applications in Calderdale 
 
Crook Hill 
 
07/00632/WDF – Installation and operation of fiver wind turbines and associated infrastructure 
(including transformers, access tracks and temporary construction compound) for the 
generation of wind power (as part of a larger scheme for 12 wind turbines) (Revised Report) – 
Appeal Allowed 
Crook Hill Wind Farm, Reddyshore, Scout Gate, Walsden, Todmorden 
 
08/01281/WDF – Installation and operation of four wind turbines and associated infrastructure 
(including transformers, access tracks and temporary construction compound) for the 
generation of wind power (as part of larger scheme for eight wind turbines) – Appeal Allowed 

Page 39



Crook Hill Wind Farm, Reddyshore, Scout Gate, Walsden, Todmorden 
 
11/00079/WDF – Revisions to access to serve approved 12 turbines wind farm at Crook Hill 
(partially using tracks approved under planning permission 07/00632/WDF and 
08/01281/WDF) – Approved 
Crook Hill Wind Farm, Reddyshore, Scout Gate, Walsden, Todmorden 
 
11/00080/WDF – Revisions to access to serve approved 12 turbine wind farm at Crook Hill 
(partially using tracks approved under planning permission 07/00623/WDF and 
08/01281/WDF) and removal of contractors compound 
Crook Hill Wind Farm, Reddyshore, Scout Gate, Walsden, Todmorden 
 
Todmorden Moor 
 
07/00349/WDF – Installation and operation of 5 wind turbines and associated infrastructure 
(including transformers, access tracks, a sub-station and a meteorological mast) for the 
generation of wind power (Revised Report) – Appeal Dismissed 
Todmorden Moor, Flower Scar Road, Todmorden 
 
10/01057/WDF – Installation of 5 wind turbines for 25 years (max. height to blade tip 125m) 
and ancillary infrastructure including crane hardstandings, control building, substation, on-site 
access tracks, permanent monitoring mast, site entrance and underground electric cables – 
Approved 
Todmorden Moor, Flower Scar Road, Todmorden 
 
Reaps Moss 
 
07/00351/WDF – Upgrade of access track to service proposed Reaps Moss Wind Farm 
(Revised Report) – Appeal Allowed 
Access track at Reaps Moss, Bacup Road, Todmorden 
 
12/00229/WDF – Modifications to the infrastructure for the consented Reaps Moss Wind 
Farm, including new site entrance arrangements, rearranged construction compound and 
alteration to cutting, access road and hardstandings – Approved 
Reaps Moss and access track off Bacup Road, Todmorden 
 
Gorpley Reservoir/Inchfield Moor 
 
12/01355/WDF – Construction of 5 no wind turbines of a maximum height of 125m to blade-tip 
and associated infrastructure, including 85m high meteorological mast, switch gear/control 
building, crane hardstandings and access tracks extending from Bacup Rd, Todmorden – 
Refused 
Land South West of Gorpley Reservoir, Bacup Road, Todmorden 
 
14/00126 – Construction of 4 no. Wind Turbines of maximum height to blade tip of between 
110m and 125m,  and associated infrastructure including turbine foundations, transformers, 
crane hardstanding areas and new onsite access tracks, a new switchgear/control building, 
underground cabling and a permanent meteorological mast (Re-submission of application 
12/01355/WDF) – Refused 
Land South West of Gorpley Reservoir, Bacup Road, Todmorden 
 
 
  _________________________________________________ 

Page 40


	Agenda
	1 Submitted Planning Applications

